IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MARIO RODRIGUEZ
Petitioner-Defendant

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA CLARA COUNTY,

Respondent.

Case No. S272129

Sixth District Case No. H049016

Santa Clara County Case Nos. C1650275 and C1647395

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Real Party in Interest

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, Affirming the Denial of the Motion to Dismiss, by the Superior Court for Santa Clara County, the Honorable Eric S. Geffon, Presiding Judge

BRIAN C. McCOMAS
California SBN 273161
The Law Office of B.C. McComas, LLP
PMB 1605, 77 Van Ness Ave., Ste. 101
San Francisco, CA 94102

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does an incompetency commitment end when a state hospital files a certificate of restoration to competency or when the trial court finds that defendant has been restored to competency?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS PRESENTED

The commitment period ends by court finding because the committed person may never be transported or treated by the Department of State Hospitals ("DSH"). (Penal Code § 1370, subd. (b)(4); see also § 1370, subd. (a)(1)(G).) Court orders are required not only at the lapse of the statutory commitment period, but whenever the constitutional rule of reasonableness is violated. (§§ 1370, subds. (c)(1) and (d) and § 1385.) Even when a certificate of restored to competency is filed, the commitment period ends only upon court finding of restored, or not, to competence after "the

defendant [is] returned to court in accordance with Section 1372." (§ 1370, subd. (a)(1)(C).) The framework contemplates a court order after a hearing to determine "whether or not the defendant was found by the court to have recovered competence." (§ 1372, subd. (c).) If the certificate of restoration is approved, a court order after another hearing is needed to "determine whether the person is entitled to be admitted to bail or released on own recognizance status pending conclusion of the proceedings." (§ 1372, subd. (d).)

Without finding of restored to competence, much less opportunity for bail, petitioner, Mario Rodriguez, remains in the Santa Clara County Jail in violation of the statutory commitment period and his constitutional rights. He cannot personally assert those rights, nor challenge the continuing detention without court finding of restored, or not, to competence coinciding with the "jurisdictional" period of commitment that "cannot be waived by defendant or his counsel." (In re Davis (1973) 8 Cal.3d 798, 806.) His counsel may elect to challenge DSH's opinion within the "reasonable opportunity [that is] provided to do so." (Id. at p. 808.) But without court orders enforcing the statutory, constitutional, and jurisdictional limitations on petitioner's commitment, "the purpose of determining or restoring competence [cannot be limited] to no more than [two] years." (Jackson v. Superior Court (2017) 4 Cal.5th 96, 106, emphasis added.)

To date, three cases have diverged as to whether a court order or certificate of restored to competence ends the commitment period. (See *People v. Carr* ("Carr II") (2021) 59 Cal.App.5th 1136; *Medina v. Superior Court* (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 1197; and *Rodriguez v*.

Superior Court (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 628.) In Carr II and Medina, the First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal agreed that a court order, "not a health official's certification of competency that initiates court proceedings to consider whether the defendant has regained competency, terminates the defendant's commitment." (Carr II, supra, 59 Cal.App.5th at p. 1140.) Those Courts of Appeal enforced statutory protections "made to assure that petitioners do not face an indefinite commitment without regard to the likelihood that they will eventually regain their competence, for such an indefinite commitment has been held to offend constitutional principles of equal protection and due process." (In re Davis, supra, 8 Cal.3d at p. 801.)

In *Rodriguez*, however, the superior court failed to find restored to competence within two-years of aggregated commitment time. The Court of Appeal for the Sixth District covered by retroactively terminating the commitment period to the filing date of the certificate to competence by the DSH. Erased were 431 days of commitment while petitioner was in "legal limbo" - unable to seek bail, personally assert fundamental rights, or challenge the criminal charges underlying his detention. No statute, constitutional provision, or Emergency Order justified the retroactive termination of his commitment period in lieu of court finding of restored, or not, to competency. (See generally, Gov. Code § 68115 [omitting §§ 1370 and 1372].)

The split in the law between *Carr II*, *Medina*, and *Rodriguez* is of critical importance for petitioner and the 1,500 or so persons committed to DSH facilities as "IST - PC 1370"; 1,500 or so wait-listed for beds; and unknown number of persons purportedly restored to

competence but awaiting to be so found in court on any given day. The rights of these committed persons must be enforced by court orders to maintain statutory and constitutional "relation to the purpose for which the individual is committed." (*Jackson v. Indiana* (1972) 406 U.S. 715, 738.) Delegation of the powers to toll and terminate commitments to DSH by the lower courts, without statutory authority and in violation of fundamental rights, must be nullified. (*Smith v. Westerfield* (1891) 88 Cal. 374, 378-379; *Estate of Scarlata* (1961) 193 Cal. App. 2d 35, 39.)

In summary, ending the commitment period by DSH certificate is contrary to the evolution of the law over the last 100 years. (See, infra, § I.A.) This Court, and the Courts of Appeal in Carr II and Medina, correctly applied sections 1370 and 1372 to end the commitment period by court orders placing limits on the statutory and constitutional jurisdiction that protects committed persons. (See, infra, §§ I.B and II.C.) The lower courts failed to strictly, or reasonably, enforce these limitations by finding of restored, or not, to competence within the commitment period. (See, infra, §§ II.A-B and III.) Retroactively terminating the commitment period violated petitioner's fundamental rights during the COVID-19 Pandemic. (See, infra, §§ III.C and IV.) Remanding for strict application of the statutory and constitutional commitment period by way of dismissal and release, or perhaps refiling of charges or conservatorship, avoids

_

¹ Department of State Hospitals (May 14, 2021) May Revision Proposals and Estimates, *State Hospital Populations*, § A3(a), at pp. 24, 28 available at: https://www.dsh.ca.gov/About_Us/ docs/2021-22_May_Revision_ Estimate.pdf [last accessed April 1, 2022].)

"unfairness and possible harm that results from prolonged or indefinite commitment and [serves] the state's interest in bringing a defendant to trial with minimal delay." (*Carr v. Superior Court* ("*Carr I*") (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 264, 270.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL FACTS

In Case No. C1647395, petitioner is charged with criminal threats in violation of Penal Code section 422.² (Petition for Writ of Mandate, Exhibit 1, at pp. 4-6 [herein "Pet. Exhibit"].) In Case No. C1650275, petitioner is charged with assault with a deadly weapon, oral copulation by force, rape, criminal threats, and corporal injury to a spouse in violation of sections 245(a)(1), 288a, 261(a)(2), 422, and 273.5(a). (Pet. Exhibit 2, at pp. 8-11.) On December 16, 2016, he was held to answer to all charges.³ (Return Exhibits 28 and 29.)

On December 27, 2017, the first doubt as to petitioner's competence was declared. (Pet. Exhibit 9; and Informal Response Exhibit 1 [herein "IR Exhibit"].) On May 3, 2018 - 127 days later - petitioner was found incompetent based on reports submitted by independently appointed doctors. (IR Exhibit 2.) On May 24, 2018, petitioner was committed without the capacity to consent to medication. (IR Exhibit 3.)

On September 7, 2018, DSH endorsed a certificate of restoration. (IR Exhibit 4.) On September 20, 2018, petitioner was

² Further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

³ Petitioner is charged by misdemeanor in Case No. C1898550, but lower court proceedings were stayed by this Court. A status conference is scheduled for July 2022.

found restored to competence (119 days after commitment). (IR Exhibit 5.) Thereafter, 112 days passed before a second doubt as to petitioner's competence was declared on January 10, 2019. (IR Exhibits 6 and 7.)

On April 18, 2019, petitioner was found not competent again. (IR Exhibits 8 and 9.) On May 16, 2019, he was committed to DSH. (IR Exhibits 10 and 11.) Transportation orders followed. (IR Exhibits 12 and 13.)

No hearings were held during the ensuing 238 days. (Pet. Exhibit 9.) On January 9, 2020, DSH-Atascadero filed a second certificate of restored to competence. (IR Exhibit 13.)

On January 24, 2020, petitioner was returned to court and counsel was substituted. (IR Exhibits 14 and 15.) Records were subpoenaed at the next hearing on February 7, 2020. (IR Exhibit 16.) On March 13, 2020, those records were released. (IR Exhibit 18.) The hearing was scheduled for April 17, 2020. (*Ibid.*) But the matter was continued and reset without appearance of counsel. (Pet. Exhibit 9.)

On July 17, 2020, further records were released and the matter was set for restoration to competence trial. (IR Exhibit 20.) The time estimate was two days. (*Ibid.*) On August 14, 2020, witnesses were ordered to appear via CCTV. (IR Exhibit 22 and Return Exhibit 32.) The matter was continued for subpoenaed records. (*Ibid.*) On August 28, 2020, however, no records were returned by DSH. (IR Exhibits 24 and 25.)

On September 11, 2020, records were released via subpoena. (IR Exhibit 26.) Trial was scheduled for November 2, 2020. (*Ibid.*) Thereafter, the matter was continued without hearings or appearance

of counsel. (Pet. Exhibit 10, at p. 102.) *There are no minute orders* for 186 days. (See Pet. Exhibit 9.) Eventually, a hearing was scheduled for April 5, 2021. (Pet. Exhibit 10, at p. 102.)

On January 19, 2021, the First District issued its opinion in *Carr II*. Petitioner's counsel moved to dismiss pursuant to section 1385 based on the violation of sections 1370, subdivision (c)(1); *Jackson, supra*, 4 Cal.5th 96; Article I, section 15 of the California Constitution; and the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. (Pet. Exhibit 4, at p. 37; see also Pet. Exhibits 3 and 5.)

On or about March 1, 2021, the superior court advanced the hearing to March 16, 2021. (Pet. Exhibit 10, at p. 102.) By then, the two-year commitment period as calculated by counsel had elapsed after petitioner was committed without a finding of restored to competence for 789 days. (Pet. Exhibit 5, at p. 41.) Petitioner was placed on suicide watch the weekend before the hearing. (Pet. Exhibit 6, at p. 62.)

At the hearing on March 16, 2021, counsel argued that judicial orders control "the question of how to count days, *Carr* [*II*] is absolutely clear and the statute is clear." (Pet. Exhibit 6, at p. 60.) The prosecution argued: "Where the defendant has been found competent at the hearing, time is tolled back to that certificate of competency." (*Id.* at p. 57.) The Superior Court found:

In *Carr [III]*, the hospital issues a certificate of restoration, basically, the declaration from the doctor at the hospital that this defendant is now restored.

It's clear that that does not end the competency proceedings. The case has to come back for a hearing in

front of a judge and the judge has to determine — because we're not going to cede the judicial power, the judge has to determine if that defendant is, in fact, restored to competence. If the defendant is not restored to competence, as was the defendant in *Carr [III]*, then I think it makes all the sense in the world that every day up to that point counts as the time where the defendant is not competent, because the court is saying, 'I disagree with that certificate. That certificate was incorrect. The defendant is not restored,' which means the six months between the restoration certificate and the restoration hearing, that time is being timed where this defendant has been incompetent to stand trial, it should be counted against the maximum term.

But if a restoration hearing happens and the court believes that actually the restoration certificate is correct and the defendant is restored, then I think it's fair to use the date of the restoration certificate as establishing the date on which the defendant was restored to competency.

(Pet. Exhibit 6, at p. 72.)

On April 16, 2021, petitioner filed a petition for writ of mandate or other equitable relief with the Sixth District Court of Appeal. (Case No. H049016.) A stay was granted on April 28, 2021. (*Ibid.*) Following order to show cause briefing, the Sixth District found that the filing of the certificate of restored to competence terminated the commitment period some 19 months prior on January 9, 2020. (*Rodriguez, supra*, 70 Cal.App.5th at p. 628.)

On December 6, 2021, following modification of the opinion and denial of rehearing, the petition for review was filed in the above captioned matter. On January 5, 2021, the petition was granted. Thereafter, the Court refined the issue presented.

ARGUMENT

I. ENDING THE COMMITMENT PERIOD BY COURT ORDER PROMOTES THE COMPREHENSIVE AND ORDERLY PROCESS FOR RESTORATION TO COMPETENCE AS ENVISIONED BY THE LEGISLATURE.

By the hearing on the motion to dismiss in March 2021, petitioner Rodriguez was committed for approximately 26 months without finding of restored to competence pursuant to sections 1370 and 1372. (Pet. Exhibit 5, at p. 41.) Marc Carr was committed for 39 months by the time his counsel successfully moved for release after finding of not restored within the then applicable three-year limitation period. (Carr II, supra, 59 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1140-1141.) Jose Medina never got a restoration hearing, let alone transportation to DSH, but his counsel moved to dismiss after 13 months commitment and renewed that motion 11 months later. (Medina, supra, 65 Cal.App.5th at p. 1210-1212.)

The delays suffered by each petitioner are "inherently more capable of abuse and oppressive prejudice to the criminal defendant." (United States v. Pallan (9th Cir. 1978) 571 F.2d 497, 499.) But petitioner Rodriguez' commitment period alone was unfairly tolled when he moved to dismiss, then terminated retroactively when he sought extraordinary review, in violation of the statutory and "constitutional principles which control [such] case[s]." (In re Davis, supra, 8 Cal.3d. at p. 805.) Those principles justify reversal of the Court of Appeal's decision on de novo review to correct the violation of statutory and constitutional rights. (See People v. Rells (2000) 22 Cal.4th 860, 868 [as to standard of review].)

- A. For More than 100 Years the Law Has Evolved to Transfer Control of the Commitment Period to the Courts and Away from State Hospitals.
 - 1. The Implementation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments Ended Indefinite Commitments by State Court Order.

The United States Constitution permits the involuntary commitment of the incompetent to stand trial. (See *Greenwood v. United States* (1956) 350 U.S. 366, 375.) However, that commitment may not exceed "the reasonable period of time necessary to determine whether there is a substantial probability that [the defendant] will attain that capacity in the foreseeable future." (*In re Davis, supra,* 8 Cal.3d 798, 804, quoting *Jackson v. Indiana, supra,* 406 U.S. at p. 738.) Against these constitutional principles, the Legislature has enacted the orderly and comprehensive statutory framework for treating and evaluating the incompetent to stand trial in California. (See generally, *Cooper v. Oklahoma* (1996) 517 U.S. 348, 355; *Medina v. California* (1992) 505 U.S. 437, 442-453.)

100 years prior to *Jackson* and *Davis*, there was no judicial oversight of the Superintendent of the State Hospital's determination when "sanity" was purportedly regained (save in capital cases awaiting execution via sections 3700-3704). (See generally, *In re Phyle* (1947) 30 Cal.2d 838, 844; *People v. Lindley* (1945) 26 Cal.2d 780, 788-789.) Commitment ended via powers "vested exclusively in the officers of the asylum." (*People v. Ashley* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 339, 359.) The Supreme Court had yet to interpret the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. (See, e.g., *Weems v. United States* (1910) 217 U.S. 349, 378.)

Not until the 1960s did the Supreme Court apply the Eighth Amendment to the States via the Fourteenth Amendment in the context of criminal and civil commitments. (See *Robinson v. California* (1962) 370 U.S. 660, 668-669, conc. opn. Douglas, J. ["While afflicted people may be confined either for treatment or for the protection of society, they are not branded as criminals."].) Competence to stand trial was defined as the "present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding—and whether he has a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him." (*Dusky v. United States* (1960) 362 U.S. 402, 408.) An "adequate hearing" is required. (*Pate v. Robinson* (1966) 383 U.S. 375, 383.)

In 1972, Jackson v. Indiana, supra, held that when a defendant is committed "solely on account of [his] incapacity to proceed to trial," the duration of commitment may not exceed "the reasonable period of time necessary to determine whether there is a substantial probability that [the defendant] will attain that capacity in the foreseeable future." (406 U.S. at p. 738.) Rejected were the State's arguments that "because the record fails to establish affirmatively that Jackson will never improve, his commitment 'until sane' is not really an indeterminate one. It is only temporary, pending possible change in his condition." (Id. at p. 725.)

The United States Supreme Court declined to prescribe "arbitrary time limits" on restoration to competence procedures, instead deferring to the States. (*Jackson v. Indiana, supra,* 406 U.S. at p. 738.) However, many States were singled out for "commit[ting] indefinitely a defendant found incompetent to stand trial until he

recovers competency." (*Id.* at p. 733.) Cited were the 1970 versions of California Penal Code sections 1370 and 1371. (*Id.* at p. 733 fn. 10.)

One year later, in *In re Davis*, *supra*, this Court acknowledged that "[i]n view of the similarities between California and Indiana procedure, it seems evident that we must adopt *Jackson*'s 'rule of reasonableness' in order to comply with the constitutional principles which controlled that case." (8 Cal.3d at p. 805.) The Court held that the petitioners "are entitled, under *Jackson*, to a prompt determination by state hospital authorities regarding the probability of their ultimate recovery." (*Id.* at p. 803.) "[I]f petitioners are making no reasonable progress toward that goal, they must be released or held subject to alternative commitment procedures." (*Id.* at p. 806.) As then envisioned, release would occur via habeas corpus. (*Id.* at p. 805.)

Like the Supreme Court, this Court declined to set "fixed limit[s] on the time a defendant could be committed for determining competence." (In re Davis, supra, 8 Cal.3d at p. 805.) The Court defined the reasonableness of the commitment depending on "the nature of the offense charged, the likely penalty or range of punishment for the offense, and the length of time the person has already been confined." (Id. at p. 807.) Violation of the rule of reasonableness required that the "defendant must either be released or recommitted under alternative commitment procedures." (Id. at p. 801.) "The trial court necessarily must exercise sound discretion in deciding whether, in a particular case, sufficient progress is being made to justify continued commitment pending trial." (Id. at p. 807.)

2. The Implementation of the Statutory Commitment Period Requires Court Orders.

Guided by *Davis* and *Jackson*, in 1974, the Legislature limited the commitment period to three years in former section 1370, subdivision (c)(1). Assembly Bill No. 1529 amended section 1372 to provide for a bail hearing upon termination of commitment. (Stats. 1974, ch. 1511, § 8 [AB 1529];⁴ see also Stats. 1974, ch. 1423 [SB 2249].⁵) Section 1370 was amended to include the "no substantial likelihood" of restoration provision requiring notice to counsel and the court pursuant to subdivision (b)(1)(A). Only one restoration of competence hearing was authorized after 18-months of commitment as enacted in then subdivision (b)(2). In 1980, the Legislature added subdivision (a) to section 1372 so that the State Hospital, or other treatment facility, could certify that the defendant regained mental competence. (Stats. 1980, ch. 547, § 14.⁶)

Some 44 years later, in 2018, the commitment period was shortened by one year via SB 1187.⁷ (Senate Floor Analyses of SB

⁴ Found at: https://clerk.assembly.ca.gov/sites/clerk.assembly.ca.gov/files/archive/FinalHistory/1973/Volumes/7374vol1 2ahr.PDF

⁵ Found at: https://clerk.assembly.ca.gov/sites/clerk.assembly.ca.gov/files/archive/FinalHistory/1973/Volumes/734shr.PDF

⁶ Found at: https://clerk.assembly.ca.gov/sites/clerk.assembly.ca.gov/files/archive/FinalHistory/1979/Volumes/7980vol1 2ahr.PDF

⁷ In the meantime, the 1998 amendments made the statutes genderneutral. (Stats. 1998, ch. 932, § 40.) The 2014 amendments added revocation proceedings. (Stats. 2014, ch. 759, § 3.)

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