#### No. S272129

### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

MARIO RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner and Defendant,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA CLARA COUNTY, Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Real Party in Interest.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H049016 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case Nos. C1647395, C1650275 The Honorable Eric S. Geffon, Criminal Presiding Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JEFFREY F. ROSEN District Attorney, County of Santa Clara State Bar No. 163589 ALEXANDRA W. GADEBERG Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 271567

County Government Center West Wing 70 West Hedding Street San Jose, CA 95110 Telephone: (408) 792-2757

Fax: (408) 287-5076

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

Petitioner was promptly returned from Atascadero State Hospital to the trial court's custody following the filing of a certificate of restoration, which occurred well within the two-year maximum commitment period enumerated in section 1370, subd. (c)(1). Following his return, Petitioner elected to contest the certificate of restoration by way of a section 1372 competency hearing. In addition to delays arising from the current global pandemic, the trial court repeatedly continued the hearing at the request of Petitioner's attorney who was awaiting the receipt of subpoenaed documents he deemed necessary for the hearing. Petitioner then moved for a dismissal of the criminal case. claiming that the trial court lost jurisdiction to hold such a hearing. Specifically, Petitioner alleged he remained "committed" within the meaning of section 1370, subd. (c)(1) until the court made a finding of competency pursuant to section 1372, subds. (c) and (d). As a result, Petitioner claims his *commitment* exceeded the two-year time limit and that the procedures in section 1370, subd. (c), rather than those in section 1372, apply. At the time of the court's denial of the motion to dismiss. Petitioner was still not ready to proceed with a section 1372 hearing.

Petitioner incorrectly conflates the concepts of "competency" proceedings with that of the "commitment," while misinterpreting the statutory scheme and relevant case law. An incompetency *commitment* is a discrete occurrence within the larger statutory framework of competency proceedings, where the defendant is committed to, or placed in the care of, the state hospital for purposes of restoration treatment. Just as the commitment does not begin with a trial court's finding of incompetence<sup>9</sup>, the commitment does not end upon a trial court's finding of competence. Rather, the *commitment* ends when the state hospital files a certificate of restoration. (Rodriguez, supra, 70 Cal.App.5th 628.) For the reasons discussed herein, the Sixth District Court of Appeal's rejection of Petitioner's contentions is supported by the plain language of the statutory scheme, the legislative history of the enumerated time restriction imposed for incompetency commitments, relevant case law, and common sense.

# I. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTORY SCHEME DEMONSTRATES THAT THE LENGTH OF THE COMMITMENT IS NOT DEFINED BY COURT FINDINGS OF COMPETENCY OR INCOMPETENCY

The Penal Code does not *expressly* define the end of the statutory incompetency commitment contemplated in section 1370. Thus, courts must apply cannons of statutory construction to understand the legal confines of the commitment, including

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Although a finding of incompetence is necessary to order a defendant committed, the finding itself is neither the order of commitment nor the beginning of the commitment.

what the "commitment" is and is not. "[T]he objective of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate legislative intent. [Citations.] In determining intent, we look first to the words themselves. [Citations.]" (People v. Woodhead (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1007.) "When the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, however, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part. [Citations.]" (Id. at p. 1008.) Here, the plain language of the statutory scheme clearly demonstrates that the length of the commitment is not defined or bound by court findings of competency or incompetency.

If at any point during a criminal proceeding a doubt arises as to a defendant's competence to stand trial, and that doubt is supported by substantial evidence, the court shall suspend criminal proceedings and order a competency hearing. (§§ 1368, 1369; People v. Lightsey (2012) 54 Cal.4th 668, 691.) Prior to the hearing, the court shall appoint one or more psychiatrists or licensed psychologists to evaluate the defendant and prepare a report regarding his or her competence. (§ 1369, subd. (a).) Unless an agreement can be reached by the parties, the issue of the defendant's competence is to be decided by the court or a jury, and the defendant's incompetence must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. (§ 1369.) If a defendant is determined to be competent, the court resumes criminal proceedings. (§ 1370, subd. (a)(1)(A).) If a defendant is found to

be incompetent, criminal proceedings "shall be *suspended until* the person becomes mentally competent." (§ 1370, subd. (a)(1)(B) [emphasis added].)

Upon a finding of incompetency, the court shall order the defendant be "delivered" to the appropriate treatment facility for restoration treatment. (§ 1370, subd. (a)(1)(B)(i).) This order of "deliver[y]" for restoration treatment is alternatively referred to as "the order directing that the defendant be *committed* to the State Department of State Hospitals or other treatment facility ...." (§ 1370, subd. (a)(2) [emphasis added].)

The statute's synonymous use of the words "delivered" and "committed," alone, distinguishes the *commitment* from *findings* of competency or incompetency. However, even without the use of the word "delivered," the plain meaning of the word "commitment" or "commit" is simply not equivalent to "findings" of "competency" or "incompetency." Thus, without explicit statutory guidance to the contrary, the definition of the "commitment" is not and should not be conflated with the period of court-adjudged incompetency. (*People v. Leal* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 999, 1009 ["courts are bound to give effect to statutes according to the usual, ordinary import of the language used"], quoting *People v. Pitmon* (1985) 170 Cal.App.3d 38, disapproved of on other grounds by *People v. Soto* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 229.)

Furthermore, as the statute makes clear, a finding of incompetence, itself, is neither the order of commitment nor the commitment. Rather, the finding of incompetence is the triggering event that permits the court to *order* the commitment.

Indeed, the court can only issue a commitment order *after* the court conducts additional hearings and makes findings and orders pursuant to section 1370, subd. (a)(2)(A)-(D).

Unlike court findings of incompetence and competence, which take place while the court has direct control of the defendant (see § 1369), an incompetency commitment—wherein the defendant is physically placed in the care and custody of the state hospital for restoration treatment—is governed by an enumerated time limit found in section 1370, subd. (c)(1).<sup>10</sup> When providing for the two-year maximum period, section 1370, subd. (c)(1), refers to the "commitment," not the total period of incompetency nor the period in which competency is determined or litigated. The language used is the following: "At the end of two years from the date of *commitment* or a period of *commitment* equal to the maximum term of imprisonment..." (§ 1370, subd. (c)(1), emphasis added.) Courts have consistently interpreted this language to mean that the start of the maximum commitment period is that in which the defendant is committed or placed in the care of a treatment facility. (See, e.g., *People v*. Reynolds, supra, 196 Cal. App. 4th at p. 807; In re Banks (1979) 88 Cal.App.3d 864, 867.) Thus, the word "commitment" in that section refers to the commitment at the treatment facility, not the total period of incompetence or proceedings to determine competency. (*Ibid*.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Conversely, there is no enumerated time limit for court findings when a doubt is declared, when a section 1369 trial must take place, or when a section 1372 hearing must take place.

Once "delivered" or "committed," to the treatment facility pursuant to the court's order, the statutory scheme provides four ways in which restoration treatment is terminated and the defendant is returned to court: (1) the hospital files a certificate of restoration to competence, which triggers an order for the return of the defendant to the court for further proceedings (§ 1372, subds. (a)(1) and (a)(3)(C)), (2) the treatment provider determines the defendant is not likely to regain competence in the foreseeable future, in which case the defendant is returned to the court for further proceedings (§ 1370, subd. (b)(1)(A)), (3) the court determines that treatment for the defendant's mental impairment is not being provided, in which case the defendant is returned to the court for further proceedings (§ 1370, subd. (b)(4)), or (4)

[a]t the end of two years from the date of *commitment* or a period of commitment equal to the maximum term of imprisonment provided by law for the most serious offense charged in the information, or misdemeanor complaint, indictment. maximum term of imprisonment provided by law for a violation of probation or mandatory supervision, whichever is shorter, but no later than 90 days prior the expiration of the defendant's term of commitment, a defendant who has not recovered shall be mentalcompetence returnedcommitting court.

#### (§ 1370, subd. (c)(1) [emphasis added].)

Under the first scenario, once the defendant has been returned to the committing court following a certificate of restoration, either party has the option of contesting the hospital's finding at a hearing. (§ 1372, subds. (c) and (d); *People* 

v. Murrell (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 822, 826.) As with the initial competency hearing prescribed by section 1369, the defendant is presumed to be competent, and the burden is on the proponent of incompetence to prove that the defendant is not competent by a preponderance of the evidence. (People v. Rells, supra, 22 Cal.4th at p. 868.) If the court finds the defendant competent, criminal proceedings resume. (In re Taitano, supra, 13 Cal.App.5th 233.)

Rather than recognizing separate mechanisms for the return of the defendant to the committing court, Petitioner's proposed reading impermissibly attempts to mix and match in arguing that the enumerated time limit found in section 1370, subd. (c)(1) applies to section 1372 proceedings that occur *after* the defendant has already been returned to the committing court. In addition to there being no mention of section 1370, subd. (c)(1)'s time limit in discussing the discretionary hearing contemplated in section 1372, subds. (c) and (d), Petitioner's reading of the statutory scheme is simply illogical.

The return mechanism found in 1370, subd. (c)(1) specifically states, "a defendant who has not recovered mental competence *shall be returned* to the committing court." In other words, the remedy for reaching the maximum commitment period is to return the defendant to the committing court. If, however, the medical director of the state hospital determines that the defendant has regained mental competence during the commitment, the director shall immediately certify that fact by filing a certificate of restoration with the court, which automatically triggers a return order that must be executed

within ten days. (§ 1370, subd. (a)(1)(C); § 1372, subds. (a)(1)-(3).) It would make little sense for the time limit in section 1370, subd. (c)(1) to apply to court hearings after the defendant has been returned to the court pursuant to section 1372, given that the remedy is to return the defendant to the committing court - an event that has already occurred. Second, concluding that a court's competency finding is necessary to terminate the commitment would lead to indefinite commitments for defendants returned to the court pursuant to sections 1370, subd. (b)(1)(A) or 1370, subd. (c)(1). As People v. Taitano (2017) 13 Cal. App. 5th 233, 250, 253, and People v. Quiroz (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 1371, 1380, demonstrate, section 1367 et seq. does not permit a competency hearing to approve or contest a hospital's determination that restoration is not likely to occur in a reasonable time or that restoration has not occurred within the two-year time limit. Thus, if Petitioner was correct that a court finding or approval of the hospital's determination is necessary to terminate the incompetency commitment, rather than the cessation of treatment and return to court, then defendants returned pursuant to section 1370, subd. (b)(1)(A) or section 1370, subd. (c)(1) would remain indefinitely committed notwithstanding enumerated time limit of section 1370, subd. (c)(1). Of course, this is not the case.

If the "clock" for the commitment does not start when the court finds a defendant incompetent, common sense dictates that it does not stop when the court finds a defendant competent.

From the synonymous use of the words "delivered" and

"committed," to the individual mechanisms for the cessation of treatment and return of the defendant, the plain language of the statutory scheme demonstrates that the period of *commitment* is not bound by the period of *incompetency*. Nothing in the plain language of the statutory scheme suggests that the discretionary hearing contemplated by section 1372<sup>11</sup> falls within the commitment time enumerated in section 1370, subd. (c)(1).

# II. THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF THE COMMITMENT TIME LIMITATION CONTRADICTS PETITIONER'S INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTE

The legislative history of the enumerated time limit found section 1370, subd. (c)(1), provides overwhelming support that the period of *commitment* is determined by the actual time spent in a treatment facility, and does not include court proceedings or time spent preparing for said proceedings *after* the defendant has been returned to the court.

Section 1370, subd. (c)(1) was added to the statutory framework to "bring the procedure for the *commitment* of mentally incompetent defendants in accord with the decisions of the California Supreme Court in *In re Davis* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 798." (*In re Polk, supra.* 71 Cal.App.4th at 1235 [emphasis added].) Prior to this addition.

mentally incompetent defendants could be *committed* to a state hospital or other treatment facility indefinitely unless they regained competence, a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Such a hearing only takes place when the defendant has been returned to the court pursuant to its original commitment order, is no longer receiving treatment to restore competence, and is presumed competent.

practice that could effectively result in a lifetime sentence without a determination of guilt. That practice was ended by our Supreme Court's decision in *In re Davis* [citation omitted], which applied the rule of *Jackson v. Indiana* (1972) 406 U.S. 715, 92 S.Ct. 1845, 32 L.Ed.2d 435 and held that "no person charged with a criminal offense and *committed to a state hospital* solely on account of his incapacity to proceed to trial may be *so confined* more than a reasonable period of time necessary to determine whether there is a substantial likelihood that he will recover that capacity in the foreseeable future." (*Davis*, at p. 8-1, 106 Cal.Rptr. 178, 505 P.2d 1018.)

(In re Taitano, surpa, 13 Cal.App.5th at p. 241 [emphasis added]; In re Polk, supra, at p. 1235, citing Conservatorship of Hofferber, supra, 28 Cal.3d at p. 167.)

The evil remedied by *In re Davis* and later addressed by the Legislature in enacting section 1370, subd. (c)(1), was the languishing of incompetent defendants in treatment facilities, not delays in judicial determinations of competency or other court business when defendants are within the court's direct control. (*In re Davis*, supra, 8 Cal.3d 798; *In re Polk*, supra, 71 Cal.App.4th at p. 1235.) Therefore, the maximum commitment period enumerated in section 1370, subd. (c)(1) was intended to limit a defendant's time in the treatment facility to "the period reasonably necessary to permit treatment for incompetence." (*People v. G.H.*, supra, 230 Cal.App.4th at p. 1559, citing *Conservatorship of Hofferber*, supra, 28 Cal.3d at p. 168.)

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